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Editor’s introduction

This is the very rst newsletter of the
Friends of The Keep Archives. Itis all

the more sad therefore that we should
have to start by marking the loss of Colin
Excell. As a member of the FESRO and
FoTKA committee his friendly enthusiasm
and readiness to help will be greatly
missed. Elizabeth Hughes pays tribute to
him in her report from The Keep.

The Friends of East Sussex Record Of ce
was founded 35 years ago in 1980. In
recognition of the partnership which
brought ESRO to its new home at The
Keep, a new body was created on the
29th of April this year — the Friends of
The Keep Archives, a charity for the
bene t of all three partners whose
collections are safeguarded at The Keep.
FESRO went out with something of a
bang — in the 18 months since The Keep
opened, as well as funding two special
projects, it raised £9723 for the purchase
of documents relating to East Sussex,
Brighton and Hove. The purchase of
Samuel Crouch’s Survey of the Manor

of Herstmonceux was the very last
acquisition made by FESRO and it was
most appropriate that FOTKAs launch
event was held at Herstmonceux in July.

In recognition of our role serving all

the partners at The Keep, we welcome
contributions from Fiona Savage of the
University of Sussex Special Collections,
and from Kate Elms of the Royal Pavilion
Museum (RPM), as well as from Elizabeth
Hughes. The cover of this issue is an
abstract artwork from the archive of

Anna Mendelssohn lately acquired by the
University of Sussex.
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Colin Excell 1944-2015

The Keep has a full programme of tours,
talks and events. In particular, don't
miss this autumn the visiting exhibition
Magna Carta and Parliament, which
will be at The Keep from 3 November
to 12 December. We are delighted that
Professor David Carpenter has agreed
to give a talk on Magna Carta, Simon
de Montfort and the development of
Parliament on Thursday 12 November
(see the enclosed lea et). Both the
exhibition and the talk are free and
there is no need to book.

Lastly, we are working hard to produce
our new website, which will be up and
running by the end of the year, and

include a new online payments facility.

The address will be:
www.friendsofthekeeparchives.org.uk.

In the meantime keep in touch through
The Keep’s own website.

Diana Hansen
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Meet your trustees

Lady Teviot

Sheena Parker

Lady Teviot is Chairman of the Friends. From 2001 to
2011 she was the President of the Federation of Family
History Societies and is now a Vice President, a member
of the Council of the British Records Association and a
member of the Keep User Group. She is a professional
genealogist who has lectured in Canada, Australia, New
Zealand, South Africa and the United States and well as
many other organisations at home.

Diana is Secretary of the Friends and joint editor, with
Pam Combes, of the Newsletter. She was for most of
her life a civil servant, and then became Director of the
Somerset House Trust, which involved organising the
famous ice rink as well as looking after a Grade 1 listed
building. On retirement, with her husband Julian she
came to Brighton and studied for an MA in history at
the University of Sussex — where she discovered the joys
of paleography and the amazing resources of the East
Sussex Record Of ce under the inspiring tutelage of
Christopher Whittick.

Sheena is Visits coordinator for The Friends of the
Keep Archives. Working with Philip Pople and Annette
Shelford, she is responsible for devising and organising
the annual visits programme; she has also played a part
in developing the new website. Sheena graduated in
medicine, working in Scotland as Consultant in Public
Health, then Director of Public Health in West Sussex,
and latterly, senior medical advisor to the Department of
Health. All roles have had a strong research focus, now
redirecting from medicine to history! Sheena lives near
Tunbridge Wells with Alistair, enjoying playing the piano,
France and language study.



John Barkshire
Treasurer of the Friends
of the Keep Archives

Annette Shelford

Ann Norman
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After serving in the Army John Barkshire had a career

as an international investment Banker in the City of
London. He was Chairman or a Director of a wide range
of nancial organisations. Since retiring from the City he
has been a Trustee or Financial advisor to a broad variety
of Charities

Recent graduate of Brighton University in English
Literature and Media. Interests local and family history,
Art (vice chairman of Newick and District Decorative and
Fine Art Society) travelling - anywhere still permitted!
Lifelong fascination with old manuscripts and books.
Married to Bill Shelford and has lived in East Sussex for
over 40 years.

Ann was born in Eaton Place, Brighton and attended
the Convent of the Blessed Sacrament Roman Catholic
School in Eastern Road, Brighton. Her working career
was spent rstly in the Science Department at Roedean
School and then the School of Mathematical and
Physical Sciences at the University of Sussex and after
four unsuccessful attempts, she was elected to Brighton
Borough Council in 1996 to represent Westdene Ward
in what was to be extended and renamed Withdean
Ward in 1997 in the newly formed Brighton and Hove
Unitary Authority. Ann is currently Chairman of the
Audit and Standards Committee on Brighton and Hove
City Council, a Trustee of the Brighton Fund and also

a Trustee at the Martlets Hospice. Married to Ken who
is also a Councillor for Withdean Ward and away from
politics she spends her time with Ken, their friends, their
two Tibetan Terriers, working with their bonsai and
gardening. Ann is also deeply interested in music and
dance of all kinds 3
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Michael Chowen CBE DL
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Bill Shelford DL

Philip Pople

Lives in Brighton. Born Birmingham. Studied Civil
Engineering at Birmingham University. Employed by Gross
Cash Registers Brighton. Purchased Sussex Stationers
1971 renamed British Bookshops & Stationers sold
2005. Principal involvement Global Hearing Impairment.
Director Highlanders Museum. Patron Chestnut Tree
House. Governor Brighton College 2002-2014. Chaired
Independent Commission into Future Funding &
Management BHCC’s Royal Pavilion, Museums & Art
Galleries 2010 onwards. Supports & maintains strong
links with the Universities of Brighton & Sussex & their
Medical School, plus local charities, including Brighton
Housing Trust, Brighton Women'’s Centre, Hearing
Conservation Council & Impact Foundation. Became
involved with the Keep project 2010.

Bill Shelford formerly the Senior Partner of a rm of
international lawyers based in London with of ces in
other countries. Lifelong resident of Sussex, High Sheriff
East Sussex 2009, Deputy Lieutenant East Sussex 2011
to present, also Chair of the Trustees of Chailey Heritage
Foundation (formerly Chair of Governors). Keen walker,
gardener and hacking golfer. His interest in historical
documents stems from his early training as a Solicitor
when much of the legal title to land was unregistered.

Retired local authority employee. Gardener and assistant
to the civic of ce Lewes District Council for forty years

at Lewes House and Southover Grange. Historic tours
guide Lewes House, Lewes Town Hall and Bishopstone.
Local historian Bishopstone. Publications Bishopstone
and Seaford in Old Photographs Vol 1-11.Member of

the following committees, Lewes Branch Council, for

the protection of Rural England, Lewes Heritage open
days and Trustee Willitt Trust Bishopstone. At various
times, member Bishopstone Parochial Church Council
representative Lewes and Seaford Deanery Synod.
Trustee and Chairman Bishopstone Parish Hall. Judge for
local ower and produce shows and Seaford in bloom.
Past President Lewes Barbican Rotary.



Friends of the Keep Archives

Celebrating Samuel Crouch’s

Survey of Herstmonceux

This is a heavily edited version of the
talk that Christopher Whittick gave

at FOTKAs rst event, the visit to
Herstmonceux which is reported on
page 22.

Herstmonceux is a place of great
resonance for me, a word on which

my eye always stops when reading

a document. The sorry story of the
archive has indeed provided many
such opportunities. One of the most
startling came in November 2005, when
a portfolio of drawings by the James
Lamberts of Lewes, showing the castle
on the eve of the demolition of its
interior, came up for sale. We missed it
at the auction but with the help of our
Friends and the generosity of over 90
individuals and trusts acquired it in the
course of the following year. That gave
rise to our rst event at Herstmonceux,
when the castle kindly hosted a
reception for all the people who had
assisted with the purchase. The Lambert
portfolio came back to the castle then
and is here again this afternoon.

We all know that the castle was built
by Sir Roger Fiennes in the 1440s. On
the death of Thomas Fiennes in 1533,
the inheritance jumped a generation,
landing on his unfortunate grandson
Sir Thomas, ninth Lord Dacre, who
was hanged in 1541 for the murder of
a Pelham gamekeeper in the park at
Hellingly, despite the fact that he was

far from the scene when the killing took
place. Over the course of seventeen
years Lord Dacre’s formidable widow
Mary Nevill conducted a vigorous
campaign to have the family titles
restored. That was achieved by an act
of parliament in 1558. Some idea of
the magni cence of the household
maintained here in the 1640s can be
gained from the castle account book,
now at Essex Record Of ce. But it was
not to last. Eventually the estates had
to be sold, and in 1708 Herstmonceux
was knocked down for £38,215 to
George Naylor of Lincoln’s Inn. He left it
to his nephew Francis Hare, son of the
bishop of Chichester, who raised the boy
at Herstmonceux, ‘making him speak
Greek as his ordinary language’. One
of the bishop’s last acts was to write to
warn his son about the cost of running
the castle:

The annual expense of the house,
gardens and park is near one
third of the clear produce of the
estate whether one live there or
not, which is an insupportable
grievance. The high price of
labour, the dearness of provisions
and dif culty of getting them for
want of markets, the expectation
such a house creates, and the
number of hangers on with which
the kitchen is always full are
further grievances.
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Francis died in 1775 and the estate
passed to his half-brother Robert.

What Robert Hare did was to follow his
grandfather’s advice, albeit in a rather
radical way — and gut the interior of the
building. The Dacres were still around,
and when in 1776 the 17th baron
Thomas Barrett-Lennard discovered that
Hare was about to demolish the interior
of his ancestral home, he commissioned
the Lewes artists James Lambert, uncle
and nephew, to record the building
before it disappeared.

As well as being a residence, the
castle was the seat of the manor of
Herstmonceux, and the document

we are celebrating today — Samuel
Crouch’s survey — is part of the archive
of the manor. The archive was clearly
intact in 1683, since Crouch’s survey

has marginal references to medieval
court rolls, but by 1777 the earliest
court book began only in 1693. The
separation of any earlier material may
well have been provoked by Robert
Hare’s demolition of the interior of the
castle, where the rolls were perhaps
stored. Be that as it may, they did not
resurface until the 1860s. Between 1859
and 1906 James Coleman of White
Hart Lane in Tottenham issued 256
catalogues of documents for sale. He
had clearly acquired the intact archive
of the medieval manor court, and

sold it off membrane by membrane,
sometimes splitting the entries for

a single court if they happened to

be written on separate sheets of
parchment. Collectors, both institutional
and private, awaited the arrival of his
catalogues with eager anticipation. The

Friends inspecting Samuel Crouch’s Survey
6



librarian of Harvard Law School was a
major purchaser, rivalled by his opposite
numbers at the Bodleian Library, the
British Museum and even the University
of Kansas. It will probably remain
impossible to cajole those records back
to Sussex, but the rolls acquired by the
many private buyers have proved more
mobile. The Revd Walter Budgen, who
retired as curator of muniments of the
Sussex Archaeological Society in 1952,
managed to buy back 47 rolls, as well
as an invaluable index to the lost 17th-
century Herstmonceux court books; and
over the years East Sussex Record Of ce
has acquired several more, by purchase
and gift.

Which brings me, at last, to Samuel
Crouch’s survey (AMS 7059/3/1).
Almost certainly because it is got up as
a volume, the survey descended with
the court books and never fell into the
hands of James Coleman. It lived in a
series of solicitors’ of ces until the early
1950s, when Messrs Blaker Son and
Young of Lewes inadvisedly released
both the books and the survey to their
client. The lordship was bought and sold
on a number of subsequent occasions,
its value largely based on the documents
which descended with it. By 1960 they
were in the hands of Major Reeves of
Findon, who in December of that year
allowed ESRO to borrow the survey.
The county archivist Richard Dell made
an immaculate hand-written copy, and
plotted it onto a modern map. A later
owner allowed us to photograph the
survey and donated the court books. At
last, the survey came up for sale as part
of a collection at Bonhams on the 18th
of March this year, and with the help

Friends of the Keep Archives

of the Friends of the National Libraries
and of our own Friends, we were lucky
enough to secure it for the relatively
modest sum of £1500. The price was
undoubtedly kept in check by the
insistence of the Statutory Rules that, as
a manorial document, it must be kept
in the country. It is most satisfactory

to have reunited a document, in orbit
but tantalisingly out of reach since the
earliest days of the of ce, with the

rest of the archive of which it had long
formed part.

The survey, illustrated with maps, was
made for Thomas Lennard, Lord Dacre,
by Samuel Crouch, who described
himself as ‘the meanest of his lordship's
domestick servants’, but who cannot
otherwise be traced. It includes over 100
tenements in six parishes, and consists
of a paper volume bound in parchment;
the tenements are described on the
left-hand pages and on the facing pages
are coloured maps; as was usual until
the 18th century, north was as often at
the bottom of the map as at the top.

As well as showing the elds with their
acreages, Crouch depicts houses, barns,
some eldnames, and the names of
neighbouring owners and roads. The
descriptions give details of buildings,
tenure, acreage and boundaries of each
tenement. By the custom of Wealden
manors, timber standing on copyhold
tenements belonged to the lord, and
Crouch details the amount of the

wood and underwood with its value.
The survey clearly remained a working
document as recently as the 19th
century. All the entries are annotated
with the names of subsequent owners
to 1742, and many to 1800 and
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Old Court manor (AMS 7059-3-1 005)

beyond. When a tenement was freed
from manorial control, a process known
as enfranchisement, that too was noted
on the survey. Such a process was of
course a good thing for the owner but a
bad one for us since once enfranchised,
the tenement would disappear from the
manorial record for good.

Crouch explains that he mapped each
tenement separately, rather than laying
them all out in a single chart, because
they lie mingled with other lands not
holden of this manor and that the
freeholds lie interspersed with the
copyholds. Indeed in a manner typical
of the Weald of Sussex, the tenements
of the Herstmonceux and Old Court
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manors stretch over 20 miles from
Herstmonceux in the west to Peasmarsh
in the east. Because the survey includes
details of neighbouring properties, each
entry includes details not only of the
tenement being described but also of

up to four of its neighbours. As well

as structures that remain, the survey
enables us to locate long-gone buildings
and features.

Is there any more of the Herstmonceux
archive left to nd? Emphatically yes.
As recently as three weeks ago, an
unprepossessing envelope arrived from
Wiltshire Record Of ce, addressed to
me. Inside was a court roll of the manor
of Herstmonceux, bought in the 1890s



by Henry Swayne, the recorder of
Wilton and an eager client of our friend
James Coleman the dealer. But the real
prize was last seen at Herstmonceux
Place by Sir William Burrell in the 18th
century. Described as a curious survey
book made on 23 August 1570, the
description of the castle and park was
transcribed by James Lambert but what
was almost certainly the bulk of the
document, a survey of the manor itself,
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was ignored. It may have perished, but |
live in hope that it will emerge.

In welcoming the new body | pay tribute
to the old; and what better way of

doing so than marking, at the Castle,

its last purchase — Samuel Crouch’s
magni cent survey of Lord Dacre’s
manors of Herstmonceux and Old Court
in 1683.

© Christopher Whittick and ESCC 2015

News from The Keep

It was with great sadness and shock
that we learned of the sudden death

on 7 September of Colin Excell. Colin
was an enthusiastic supporter of The
Keep. As Chairman of the Sussex Family
History Group he took forward the

plans to move their headquarters into
The Keep with humour, patience and
gusto. He took a full part in discussions
on the building’s design and operation,
and played a vital role in advocating the
bene ts for both The Keep and SFHG
members in working together. The
success of the move owes much to his
leadership. Colin was also a member of
the FESRO committee and of The Keep’s
User Group, which both bene ted

from his wisdom. We will also miss his
indefatigable Wednesday litter-picking
sessions. He was a great friend to us all
and he will be hugely missed.

In the last newsletter | reported the
appointment of a Discoverability Of cer,
funded by The Friends, to improve the
searchability of our online catalogue.
Laurie Smith has been making huge

strides which are reported elsewhere

in the Newsletter. He has already made
such a visible difference in his initial

six months of work that The Friends
Committee has agreed to invest in
another six months, for which our
thanks are due.

We continue to run a full programme

of events, which we advertise in a
twice-yearly brochure as well as on

our website. They include talks, tours,
workshops and events, which we hope
will include something for everyone. We
held a very successful Open Day on 26
September on the theme of food and
are very grateful to The Friends for their
support on the day, including the cakes!
We had 152 visitors and the place was
buzzing. Feedback was overwhelmingly
positive with a great deal of praise for
the staff and their enthusiasm. We were
also delighted to participate in The
Friends' rst major event as The Friends
of The Keep Archives at Herstmonceux
Castle.
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Looking to the future, we are hosting
a free exhibition on the Magna Carta
and Parliament, courtesy of the
Parliamentary Archives which will run
from 3 November to 12 December. We
will be running activities with schools
and community groups in connection
with the exhibition. The Friends will
be hosting a public lecture on 12
November, for which we are delighted
to welcome Magna Carta expert,
Professor David Carpenter.

One of our major aims this year is the
submission of an application to The
National Archives to be an accredited
service. Accreditation will also hold us

10
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in good stead for funding applications.
East Sussex Record Of ce, as a Place of
Deposit for public records, must apply
(successfully) by 2017. We have agreed
on a joint application with the University
of Sussex, which we hope to submit by
the end of March 2016. In it we need

to demonstrate an appropriate level of
achievement in our governance and
how we manage our resources and
staff, in collections management and

in stakeholder experience (users of all
kinds, depositors, employers etc). We
will be working hard to meet these
standards.

Elizabeth Hughes, County Archivist
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News from the University of Susse

Special Collections

As we come to the second anniversary
of moving to The Keep, | have been
able to re ect on how much Special
Collections has bene ted not only

from the wonderful new facilities and
storage that the building affords, but
also from our ability to work closely with
our colleagues from ESRO and RPM,
particularly in terms of developing our
collections. Following our successful
foray into the auction house last year

to acquire the papers of Trix Kipling,

| once again called on the assistance
of Christopher Whittick to attempt

to acquire letters relating to Virginia
Woolf's mother Julia Stephen and her
half sister Stella Duckworth. These letters
would have complemented our existing
collection of letters between Julia
Stephen and her mother Maria Jackson,
as well as the papers of Virginia Woolf
held in our Bloomsbury Collections.
Unfortunately our bid was not successful
and we watched the auction bids rise
well beyond our budget, illustrating the
increasing prices that such archives are
now commanding. It did provide the
opportunity for Special Collections to
make our rst request to the Friends

of The Keep Archives for funds to
contribute to the cost of acquisition. We
were immensely grateful for the positive
and speedy response that we received
from the Committee, and hope that we
will be able to apply with more success
in the future. The opportunity to be able
to work with the Committee to develop

the collections held at The Keep is
another of the great bene ts of being in
this wonderful building.

Despite our failure to secure the

Julia Stephen letters, we have had
considerable success with other
collections. We are about to open

the Anna Mendelssohn Archive for
research following a year-long project
to catalogue this extensive archive
comprising Mendelssohn’s poetry,
writings and artwork, as well as
materials relating to her associations
with the ‘Angry Brigade’ in the 1970s
and her period in Holloway Prison as
one of the ‘Stoke Newington Eight'.

We are very grateful to the University of
Sussex’s Research Innovation Fund for
agreeing to fund the cataloguing of this
collection. The Mass Observation Archive
continues to acquire personal diaries and
our education programme goes from
strength to strength as we increase our
work with local schools and community
groups.

Finally, | am very pleased to report that
we will shortly be receiving the vast
archive of Lord Richard Attenborough,
actor, director, producer and Chancellor
of the University of Sussex between
1999 and 2009. Lord Attenborough’s
links with the area stretch back to

the Im adaptation of Brighton Rock

in 1947, with his Im of Oh What a
Lovely War in 1968 establishing his

11
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rst connections with the University
when the campus and its students

were part of the Iming. The collection
will complement the work in the
Attenborough Centre for Creative Arts
(previously the Gardner Arts Centre) and
will become a valuable and highly visible
addition to collections at The Keep.

Fiona Courage, University of Sussex
Special Collections

The Uses of Archaeology

County Archaeologists Casper

Johnson and Greg Chuter and Historic
Environment Record Of cer Sophie
Unger have been working closely with
The Keep to increase the use of historic
documents in the planning process.
Although history is interesting for its

own sake, there are practical reasons for
this collaboration and for promoting The
Keep's resources.

When a development such as a new
road, school or housing estate is
brought forward, national and local
policy requires the developer to consider
the historic environment and submit
relevant information with their planning
application. Planning language can be

a bit ‘dry’ but essentially the historic

12

Lord Attenborough, Chancellor
1999-2009 (University of Sussex)

environment is considered to comprise
all aspects of the landscape resulting
from the interaction between people

and places through time, including all
surviving physical remains of past human
activity, whether visible, buried or
submerged, and landscaped and planted
or managed ora.

The physical results of such interaction
are termed ‘heritage assets’. These
include buildings, monuments, sites,
places, areas or landscapes identi ed as
having a degree of signi cance meriting
consideration in planning decisions
because of their heritage interest. The
signi cance of any identi ed heritage
asset, such as a building or site, is

de ned by its artistic, architectural,
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Anthony Everenden 1637 Map of Sir Thomas Pelham’s land in Bexhill showing
The Skreen’s Wood, which later became the site of Upper Worsham Farm
ESRO ACC 6888/26
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historic and/or archaeological interest
and is derived not only from its physical
presence but also from what we
understand about it and its setting. As
can be imagined, the records within
The Keep, including over two thousand
pre-1840 maps, represent a hugely
valuable resource for understanding the
signi cance of a particular area or site
and any ‘heritage assets’ that can be
identi ed.

A recent planning application in

north Bexhill for a new settlement of
over one thousand houses presents
an example where Keep documents
are of importance. The proposed
development area comprises two farm
complexes: Little Worsham Farm and
Upper Worsham Farm. Whilst the
former may well have early medieval
origins the latter was created after

the middle of the 17th century. We
can prove this through reference to
Anthony Everenden’s 1637 map (page
13) of Sir Thomas Pelham’s lands in
the parish of Bexhill, where the area
of Upper Worsham Farm is shown as
The Skreens Wood — the rectangular

area of woodland below the map title.
This information helps us to consider
the nature of the archaeological
interest of the site, with Little Worsham
Farm having the greater potential

for understanding the early origins

of farmsteads in this area and Upper
Worsham Farm for understanding

the nature of a new farm complex
developed over the last three hundred
years. The buildings, farmsteads, elds,
woods, ponds, lanes and potential
below-ground archaeological remains
are all examples of ‘heritage assets’
that can be identi ed and understood
through use of Keep resources such as
the [attached] map. The documented
place and eld-names will be drawn

on for the naming of future streets and
housing areas and the new settlement
will be called Worsham; the name was
recently settled after consideration of
earlier documented names including the
earliest Wyrtlesham, the form used in
the Offa charter of 772.

Casper Johnson — County
Archaeologist
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Discovering the collections

on the website

Searching the online catalogue of an
archive isn't as straightforward as one
might imagine. It differs from a standard
search-engine in many ways, making

it a mesh of hierarchical confusion.

At The Keep, we have been working
hard behind the scenes to simplify the
process, posting blogs on our website
to help people understand the way the
search works, and also creating detailed
Help Pages to provide support. During
the last three months with a great deal
of help and work from the staff at
Orangeleaf Systems Ltd, it has improved
considerably.

The Advanced Search option is the

key to the catalogue. A crucial element
in any historical record is the date so, a
few months ago, Orangeleaf did some
fancy programming to enable people

to search within a date range. | helped
out with testing this and it worked
perfectly. However, it required every
single record to be re-uploaded to the
website in order for the changes to take
effect. That took around two months

for me to complete, but the end result
was well worth it! The next big step was
the design of Advanced Search version
2, which went live on Monday 13 July
2015.

The new search differs from the

old one not just in its slick, jazzed-
up interface but also in its inner
workings. Orangeleaf worked closely

with Keep staff to make sure that

the new functions met the needs of

the archivists, as well as the needs of
the public. On the original Advanced
Search, if you were to use the enhanced
search elds (Title, Place, Subject, for
example), the only hits generated would
be of those few records that had been
speci cally ‘indexed’ in our databases.
As a result, using these elds would
often achieve very little. With the
updated version, if you type ‘Hellingly’
into the Place eld, for example, the

list of results will include all records
containing the word Hellingly. It will also
boost those that have been indexed to
the top of the search list. This means
that you will generate a greater number
of hits, with the most relevant being
immediately in front of your eyes. Also
new is a standard ‘Keywords’ search,
which includes the option to search

‘all words’, ‘any of the words’, ‘exact
phrase’ and ‘proximity’. Many more
adjustments have been made to the
advanced search — do get on line and try
it out for yourself.

Many of the original catalogue entries
used antiquarian forms of place-names
which made them dif cult to locate
using a search engine. | am currently
updating the old parish names in

our records, replacing them with the
modern-day versions. This means, for
example, that a record for ‘30 acres
called Twissels and Brigdens Wish in
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Wartling and Essebornhame’ now
appears in modern spelling in our
catalogue as ‘30 acres called Twissels
and Brigdens Wish in Wartling and
Ashburnham’. | have also been ironing
out discrepancies in some of the records,
ensuring fractions are properly displayed,
for example, and abbreviations are
written out in full. These small changes
will make it easier for the public to nd
and interpret the records they need. The
University of Sussex team has also been
making similar changes to their records.

Despite all that we've achieved over
the past few months, the process of
optimising the search engine can seem
never-ending. With well over one million
records to check, edit, tag, export and
re-upload, it will be a long time until

all our goals are met. In the meantime,
though, we are bene ting from the
steps we have taken so far, and hope
that we have enabled you to discover
more easily all the wonders that The
Keep and its collections have offer.

Laurence Smith

Map of Ashburnham, ACC2300/1/8, dated 1638
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Keep up to date!

Friends of the Keep Archives

Over the past 18 months, we have been
posting news stories and blogs on The
Keep's website to promote the archives
in our care. Many of those who come
through our doors have previously
visited East Sussex Record Of ce, the
University of Sussex Special Collections
or Brighton History Centre, but we have
found that few people are familiar with
the holdings of all three partners in this
new venture. Our aim is to highlight
both the ways in which the individual
collections are unique, and also the ways
in which they complement and enrich
each other.

We have written about a wide range

of subjects, from the diaries of Leonard
Woolf to the art of Eric Ravilious. We've
looked at the growth of Georgian
Brighton, uncovered some fascinating
local stories relating to the First World
War, and revisited the case of the
notorious 19th-century ‘chocolate
poisoner' Christiana Edmunds. In one
series of posts, we celebrate the work
of our volunteers, while another gives
readers the chance to 'Meet the Staff'.
We may devote a post to a single object
or document — a new acquisition,
perhaps — or we may try to show how a

Snowball ght at the military hospital set up in WW1 at
Brighton Grammar School (now Bhasvic), 1915 (RPM BH600659)
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particular theme can be brought to life
with material from across the archive. In
March, for example, we were inspired
by International Women's Day to post
six stories on consecutive days about
notable women represented in our
holdings. Our 'Letters from the Archive'
presents another opportunity to delve
into the collections: in this category,

we have featured correspondence from
John Kipling to his father Rudyard, from
naval surgeon George Murray Levick on
active service at Gallipoli, and a lively
exchange of letters published in the
Brighton Heraldin 1907 on the then-
controversial subject of Suffragettes.

Blogging allows us to share knowledge
and to shine a light on material that is,
by necessity, stored out of the public
eye. It's a rewarding, collaborative
process, with some members of staff
involved in research and writing,

others suggesting ideas, helping on

the technical side, or acting as 'critical
friends’, reading posts before they are
published. We alert people to new posts
via Twitter, which we also use to reach a
wider audience and to promote all that
The Keep has to offer, from talks, tours
and events to historic snippets of news
and digital images from the archive. To
nd out more, have a look at our Twitter
feed — @TheKeepArchives — and visit
the blog pages of our website: http://
www.thekeep.info/news-and-blogs/.
Stories are posted regularly, so it's worth
checking back from time to time to see
what's new!

From Brighton Museum’s collection of
war posters BHP 0295

Kate Elms, Collections Of cer
(Royal Pavilion & Museums)
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Visit to Coombe Place Tuesday 12th May

By kind permission of the owners, Rose
and Martin Armstrong, some 30 Friends
met on a sunblest luminous afternoon
at Coombe Place, a mansion closely set
against Offham Down, with sweeping
views north and east to the High Weald.
Though remodelled in 1733-4 by Arthur
Morris, mason of Lewes, for John
Bridger, Coombe retains foundations,
walls, and on the west front two lower
storeys, from the gabled house built in
€1658 for his grandfather Richard, later
a Whig MP for Lewes, ‘a very honest
gentleman of about £1000 per annun’.

Coombe Place east front

Morris erected the present handsome,
symmetrical east front, with sparkling
knapped int offset by Portland stone,
projecting ends and pedimented
entrance door, a cool Palladianism
reminding us he was mason to Colen
Campbell at Compton Place Eastbourne.
His compactly ef cient interior also
survives, graced by a highly crafted
staircase, ramped and uted, with a
frieze of oak leaves. His employer, a New
College man, later dabbled in wine,
sugar and rum, his ship The Combe
trading with Barbados till bankruptcy
struck during the Seven Year War.
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Circumambulation of the dovecote (Clive Wilson)

Happily, though, his son, Sir John, netted
Miss Rebecca Eliot, a richly endowed
Quaker heiress, enabling interior walls
to be embellished with pretty Rococo
motifs — musical instruments etc —
wrought in papiermache by Robert
Stark on Ludgate Hill. Meanwhile Arthur
Morris’s son, John, perhaps advised

by William Robinson, demolished the
ancient service wing on the north

side, inserting instead an ample brick
bay window and moving the kitchens
into a modernised basement, with a
new elegant circular servants’ staircase
rising thence to the attics. Other
services — stables, dairy, bake house
and brew house, along with a well

and wind pump — were shifted to a
smart new brick complex reached by
servants through a tunnel from the
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basement , so allowing the mansion to
rise serenely from its tailored landscape
unencumbered by menial clutter, a
fashion set by Capability Brown. The
stables and a new Gothic Dovecote
(above) also sport quatrefoil windows.
But sadly a Gothic Summerhouse has
bitten the dust.

Happily though, Sir John’s portrait,
plausibly attributed to Reynolds, survives
set in the over-mantel of a bedroom
replace. His only child wedded (Sir)
George Shiffner, a keen anti-Jacobin and
Tory MP for Lewes (1812-26), whose
grandfather, a Russian merchant from
Riga, was enriched by Baltic trade.
George himself funded the rst railway

in Sussex, carrying down chalk from his
Offham quarry to a wharf on the Ouse.



George’s eldest son predeceasing him,
the estate passed in 1842 to Henry, a
Vice-Admiral, who exchanged letters
with Nelson and rather unwisely built

a new arcaded entrance on the south
side and turned the main staircase into
a remodelled entrance hall. His brother
George, a clergyman, succeeded him,
followed in 1863 by his son George,
rector of Hamsey from 1848 to 1906.

Thereafter the family fortunes

were tragic. George’s son John was
accidentally killed in 1914, cleaning
guns while in the Royal Atrtillery. His son
John was killed on the Western Front

in 1918 and his younger son Henry at
Tobruk in 1941, leaving a shaken estate
in his son Henry whose trustees sold
Coombe Place to Mr and Mrs Canon

Coombe Place farm complex — Clive Wilson

Friends of the Keep Archives

in 1952. Then in 1999 the seriously
decayed mansion was sold to the
Armstrongs, its powerful aroma of damp
ooding Martin with fond memories of
his Irish childhood. Scores of white vans
converged to reconstruct the roof and
eliminate the injudicious alterations of
Vice-Admiral George — all together an
admirable restoration.

Our party split into two, being
shepherded round the house by Colin
Brent and round the grounds and stables
by Sheena Parker — some contented
polo steeds being much admired. An
immaculate visit culminated in a robust
tea partially orchestrated by Rose, our
very amiable hostess.

Colin Brent
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Visit to Herstmonceux 21 July

On a pleasant summer day members
enjoyed the privilege of a visit to
Herstmonceux Castle, the rst event

to be held under the auspices of the
Friends of The Keep Archives. Mary
Teviot expressed her pleasure at seeing
so many members and Friends of
Herstmonceux Castle at this momentous
occasion, and Peter Bowers, bursar of
the Canadian charity which runs the

Castle as a campus of Queen’s University

Toronto, added his welcome.

We were entertained by talks from
Christopher Whittick and David Martin,
followed by a guided tour and a very
special tea. A version of Christopher’s

The grand staircase
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talk is on pages 5 to 9 of this newsletter.
The images from the Lamberts’ beautiful
and meticulous volume of drawings

of the castle, which our predecessors
FESRO helped to purchase, were used
by David Martin to introduce us to the
original castle before we enjoyed a
guided tour of the restored building.
The large interior courtyard reminiscent
of an Oxbridge college quad was a
product of the restoration: the original
layout squeezed three small courtyards
and important buildings into the space.
David contrasted Herstmonceux’s
creature comforts with the earlier
Bodiam Castle; for instance, whereas
Bodiam’s sanitation was primitive,
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Delighted archivists admire Samuel Crouch’s Survey

with sewage draining into the moat,

at Herstmonceux the well-constructed
drain led under the moat to issue into

the marsh and maintain the moat as

a source of fresh water. He conceded

that in later ages, when the castle was
a ruin, the drain might well have been

used by smugglers as a secret passage.

A knowledgeable castle guide led us
through the fascinating mix of old and
new that is the interior today. Students
are very lucky to live and work in such
surroundings.

On display, while we were served tea,
were the Lamberts’ drawings, the newly
acquired 1683 Samuel Crouch Survey
of the Manor of Herstmonceux, and

a surprise new addition to the Keep’s
Herstmonceux holdings, a manor court
roll sent to Christopher by Wiltshire
Record Of ce.

Diana Hansen
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Winter visit to Stanmer House
Tuesday 23 February 2016 at 10am

We are delighted to introduce the second winter visit, to complement our well-
established programme of summer visits . Stanmer House is a little known early
Georgian gem hidden in Stanmer Park between Lewes and Brighton. We will
learn of its history, and explore the ground oor of the house and the setting
which includes stables of the 1770s, which will have been converted to homes
by the time we visit.

We will also consider the modern history of the estate, why it was sold and
what happened to the house and the park while in public ownership. The

house is now a restaurant having been restored by a businessman after years o
neglect, but the park is still owned by the city of Brighton.

Dates for your diary

The FOTKA visit to Stanmer Park must be booked through the enclosed form.

Entrance to Keep tours is free but places must be booked at Reception
(01273 482349). Charges are made for talks, events and workshops.
See The Keep websitewww.thekeep.info/events  for more detail.

2015 | |

Tuesday 3 November @ Free Magna Carta and Parliament
— Saturday 12 Decembeiexhibition

Wednesday 4 NovemberKeep tour
1-1.30pm

Thursday 12 November FoTKA talk Magna Carta, Simon de Montfort and
5.30pm - 6.30pm the development of Parliament
Dr David Carpenter

Wednesday 25 Novembdfeep Talk Edwardian Picture Postcards
5.30pm-6.30pm Dr Annebella Pollen
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Saturday 5 December = PalaeographyKeep Deciphering

10am — 1pm Workshop | Christopher Whittick
Tuesday 8 December | Keep Talk The Battle Abbey Archive
5.30pm — 6.30pm Christopher Whittick

Wednesday 13 January Keep Tour

1-1.30pm

Wednesday 10 FebruaryWorkshop The History of Brighton Aquarium
2-4pm Andrew Bennett and Paul Jordan
Tuesday 23 February | FOTKA visit Stanmer Park

10am

Tuesday 1 March Keep Talk Brighton and the ‘Regency’ period
5.30-6pm c1810-1830

Dr Sue Berry
Wednesday 16 March | Keep tour

1-1.30pm
Saturday 23 April Workshop Being poor in East Sussex 1600-1834
10am-1pm Elizabeth Hughes
Wednesday 11 May Keep tour
1-1.30pm
Wednesday 11 May Keep Talk Early illustrated books of the
5.30-6.30pm Royal Pavilion
Dr Alexandra Loske
Tuesday 7 June Workshop | Dating and understanding family
2-4pm photographs 1840-1940

Jayne Shrimpton

Wednesday 29 June Keep Talk Lowther’s Lambs at the Boar’s Head
5.30-6.30pm Dr Chris Kempshall
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From the archive of Anna Mendelssohn (University of Sussex)
SxMs109/5/B/2




